
 

 Page 1 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

AL AHLIA INSURANCE CO. SAOG  

 

 

NCIALAND FINAS AL REPORTANNU  
STATEMENTS 2022 

 

































Tax Card No. 8063052

        

KPMG LLC
Children’s Public Library Building
4th Floor, Shatti Al Qurum
P O Box 641, PC 112
Sultanate of Oman
Tel. +968 24 749600, www.kpmg.com/om

KPMG LLC, an Omani limited liability company and a subsidiary of KPMG Lower Gulf Limited, a member firm of the KPMG global organization 
of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved.
KPMG LLC is registered and licensed under the laws of Sultanate of Oman.

1
CR No. 1358131

Agreed upon procedures on Code of Corporate Governance of Al Ahlia

Insurance Company SAOG
To the Board of Directors of Al Ahlia Insurance Company SAOG

Purpose of this Agreed-Upon Procedures Report

We were engaged by the Board of Directors of Al Ahlia Insurance Company SAOG (the “Company”) to 
perform agreed upon procedures on the Company’s compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance of 
Capital Market Authority (“CMA”), as prescribed in the CMA Circular No. E/10/2016 dated 1 December 2016 
(together the “Governance Code”).  Our report is solely for the purpose of assisting the Company in 
complying with the CMA requirements and may not be suitable for any other purpose.

Responsibilities of the Company

The Board of Directors has acknowledged that the agreed-upon procedures are appropriate for the purpose 
of the engagement.

Management of the Company is responsible for accuracy and completeness of the subject matter on which 
the agreed-upon procedures are performed.

Practitioners’ Responsibilities

We have conducted the agreed-upon procedures engagement in accordance with the International Standard 
on Related Services (ISRS) 4400 (Revised), Agreed-Upon Procedures Engagements. An agreed-upon 
procedures engagement involves our performing the procedures that have been agreed with the Company, 
and reporting the findings, which are the factual results of the agreed-upon procedures performed. We make 
no representation regarding the appropriateness or sufficiency of the agreed upon procedures.

This agreed-upon procedures engagement is not an assurance engagement. Accordingly, we do not express 
an opinion or an assurance conclusion.

Had we performed additional procedures, other matters might have come to our attention that would have
been reported.

Professional Ethics and Quality Control

We have complied with the relevant ethical requirements including independence requirements of 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) issued by the International 
Ethical Standards Board for Accountants. 
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Practitioners’ Responsibilities (continued)

Our firm applies International Standard on Quality Control (ISQC) 1, Quality Control for Firms that Perform 
Audits and Reviews of Financial Statements, and Other Assurance and Related Services Engagements, 
and accordingly, maintains a comprehensive system of quality control including documented policies and 
procedures regarding compliance with ethical requirements, professional standards and applicable legal 
and regulatory requirements.

Procedures and Findings

We have performed the procedures described below, which were agreed upon with the Company in the 
terms of our engagement dated 16 January 2022, on compliance with the requirements of the Governance 
Code:

S. 
No

Procedures Findings

(a)
We compared the corporate governance report issued by the Board of 
Directors with Annexure 3 of the Governance Code to check if the Report 
includes as a minimum, all items suggested by CMA in the Annexure 3.

No exceptions found.

This report relates only to the items specified above and does not extend to the Company’s financial 
statements taken as a whole.

KPMG LLC
26 February 2023
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Independent auditors’ report
To the Shareholders of Al Ahlia Insurance Company SAOG

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Al Ahlia Insurance Company SAOG (“the Company”), which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, the statements of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, 
comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company as at 31 December 2022, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with IFRS Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IFRS Standards).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) together with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Sultanate of Oman, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA 
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Valuation of insurance contract liabilities

See Note 4.1 (a), 4.1 (b) and 20 to the financial statements.

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our 
audit

Valuation of these liabilities involves significant 
judgement, and requires a number of assumptions to 
be made that have high estimation uncertainty. This 
is particularly the case for those liabilities that are 
recognised in respect of claims that have occurred, 
but have not yet been reported (“IBNR”) to the 
Company. IBNR is calculated by an independent 
qualified external actuary for the Company.

Small changes in the assumptions used to value the 
liabilities, particularly those relating to the amount 
and timing of future claims, can lead to a material 
impact on the valuation of these liabilities and a 
corresponding effect on profit or loss. The key 
assumptions that drive the reserve calculations 
include loss ratios, estimates of the frequency and 
severity of claims and, where appropriate, the 
discount rates for longer tail classes of business.

The valuation of these liabilities depends on accurate 
data about the volume, amount and pattern of 
current and historical claims since they are often 
used to form expectations about future claims. If the 
data used in calculating insurance liabilities, or for 
forming judgements over key assumptions, is not 
complete and accurate then material impacts on the 
valuation of these liabilities may arise.

Our response: Our audit procedures,
supported by our actuarial specialists 
included:

evaluating and testing of key controls 
around the claims handling and case 
reserve setting processes of the 
Company. Examining evidence of the 
operation of controls over the valuation of 
individual reserve for outstanding claims 
and consider if the amount recorded in the 
financial statements is valued 
appropriately;

obtaining an understanding of and 
assessing the methodology and key 
assumptions applied by the management. 
Independently re-projecting the liabilities 
balance for certain classes of business;

assessing the experience and 
competence of the Company’s actuary 
and degree of challenge applied through 
the reserving process;

checking a sample of reserves for 
outstanding claims through comparing the 
estimated amount of the reserves for 
outstanding claims to appropriate 
documentation, such as reports from loss 
adjusters; and

assessing the Company’s disclosure in 
relation to these liabilities including 
whether claims development table is 
appropriate.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Recoverability of insurance and reinsurance receivables

See Note 4.1 (c) and 7 to the financial statements.

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our 
audit

The Company has significant insurance and 
reinsurance receivables against written premium 
policies. There is a risk over the recoverability of 
these receivables. The determination of the related 
impairment allowance is subjective and is influenced 
by judgements relating to the probability of default 
and probable losses in the event of default.

Our response: Our audit procedures on 
the recoverability of insurance and 
reinsurance receivables included: 

evaluating and testing key controls over 
the processes designed to record and 
monitor insurance and reinsurance 
receivables:

testing the ageing of insurance and 
reinsurance receivables to assess if 
these have been accurately determined. 
Testing samples of long outstanding 
insurance and reinsurance receivables 
where no impairment allowance is made 
with the management’s evidences to 
support the recoverability of these 
balances;

obtaining balance confirmations from a 
sample of counterparties such as 
policyholders, agents, brokers and 
reinsurance companies;

verifying payments received from such 
counterparties post year-end;

considering the adequacy of provisions 
for bad debts for significant customers, 
taking into account specific credit risk 
assessments for each customer based 
on period overdue, existence of any 
disputes over the balance outstanding, 
history of settlement of receivables, 
liabilities with the same counterparties; 
and

discussing with management and 
reviewing correspondence, where 
relevant, to identify any disputes and 
assessing whether these were 
appropriately considered in determining 
the impairment allowance.
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Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditors’ report 
thereon:

Chairman’s Report;
Management Discussion and Analysis Report; and
Corporate Governance Report

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS Standards and their preparation in compliance with the relevant disclosure 
requirements of the Capital Market Authority and the applicable provisions of the Commercial Companies 
Law of 2019, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those Charged with Governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 
process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

— Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to 
cease to continue as a going concern.

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions 
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore 
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Further, we report that financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 31 December 
2022, comply, in all material respects, with the:

relevant disclosure requirements of the Capital Market Authority; and
applicable provisions of the Commercial Companies Law of 2019.

Kenneth Macfarlane KPMG LLC
23 February 2023 
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Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2022 

2022 2021
Notes RO RO

Gross premium earned 19 19,824,510 18,969,174
Reinsurance share of ceded premium earned 19 (3,555,632) (3,175,955)

Net premium earned 19 16,268,878 15,793,219
Commissions income 220,663 184,435
Gross claims expense  20 (6,482,011) (5,950,830)
Reinsurance share of gross claims expense 20 (487,698) (65,247)
Deferred acquisition cost 8 316,367 194,719
Commission expense (1,677,301) (1,473,733)

Net underwriting income 8,158,898 8,682,563
General and administrative expenses 22 (6,441,873) (6,232,237)
Investment income – net 21 1,556,040 1,881,659
Finance cost on lease liabilities 33 (49,579) (61,341)
Other income – net 162,011 231,015

Profit before taxation 3,385,497 4,501,659
Income tax expense 23 (465,000) (674,510)

Profit and other comprehensive income for the year 2,920,497 3,827,149

Basic and diluted earnings per share 27 0.029 0.038
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Statement of cash flows  
for the year ended 31 December 2022 

Notes 2022 2021
RO RO

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before taxation 3,385,497 4,501,659
Adjustments for:
Investment income – net 21 (1,556,040) (1,881,659)
Movement in unearned premium reserve - net 17 (448,274) (1,097,059)
Allowance for impaired debts 7 100,000 267,485
Depreciation on property and equipment 11 280,767 301,395
Finance cost on lease liabilities 33 49,579 61,341
Depreciation relating to right-of-use assets 33 445,394 385,890
Provision for end of service benefits 18 72,114 73,866

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

2,329,037 2,612,918

Cash flows before changes in operating assets and 
liabilities:

Insurance and reinsurance receivables (134,607) 590,171
Reinsurance share of outstanding claims and 
  IBNR reserve 1,648,099 831,805
Other receivables and prepayments (513,653) (50,275)
Gross outstanding claims and IBNR reserve (2,722,672) (5,031,868)
Reinsurance payable 195,205 (233,836)
Other liabilities and accruals 1,135,628 1,393,254

Cash generated from operations 1,937,037 112,169
Income tax paid (914,925) (706,256)
End of service benefits paid 18 (69,960) (42,131)

Net cash generated from / (used in) operating activities 952,152 (636,218)

Investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment 11 (77,575) (189,155)
Additional bank deposits during the year 1,800,000 -
Redemption of bank deposits during the year - 1,884,779
Proceeds form held to maturity investments 88,500 -
Purchase of investments at fair value through profit or loss (496,215) -
Interest and dividend received 1,824,876 1,836,571

    

Net cash generated from investing activities 3,139,586 3,532,195

Financing activities

Payment of lease liabilities 33 (492,054) (281,750)
Dividend paid 32 (2,500,000) (3,300,000)

----------------------------------- -----------------------------------
Net cash used in financing activities (2,992,054) (3,581,750)

----------------------------------- -----------------------------------
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,099,684 (685,773)

------------------------------------ ------------------------------------
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 5 1,646,960 2,332,733

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 5 2,746,644 1,646,960
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 

1. General

Al Ahlia Insurance Company SAOG (the “Company”) is an Omani joint stock company registered 
and incorporated in the Sultanate of Oman. The Company operates in Oman and writes short term 
insurance contracts covering general risks. The address of its registered office is PO Box 1463, Postal 
Code 112 Muscat, Sultanate of Oman.

The Company commenced its commercial operations on 1 July 2004 by acquiring the general 
insurance businesses of the Muscat branch of Royal & Sun Alliance Insurance Plc (Middle East) EC 
and W J Towell & Co. LLC, both related parties. On 30 April 2010, the Company acquired 99.99% 
of the issued and fully paid share capital of formerly Al Ahlia Insurance Company SAOC. With 
effect from 17 January 2011, the formerly Al Ahlia Insurance Company SAOC has been merged in 
to the Company. The Company completed the IPO process and the Company’s shares were listed for 
trading on the Muscat Securities Market from 17 August 2017 onwards. 

The Company is a subsidiary of Royal & Sun Alliance Insurance (Middle East) BSc ( c ), whose 
registered address is Flat No - 81, Building No - 198, Road No - 2803, Block No – 428, P O Box 
11871, Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain. The Sale and Purchase Agreement and  Share Swap 
agreement through which National Life and General Insurance Co. SAOG (“NLGIC”) acquired all 
of the shares of the Company’s parent Royal & Sun Alliance Insurance (Middle East) BSc ( c ) 
(“RSAME”) were completed in July 2022. RSAME  is now  a fully owned subsidiary of (NLGIC). 

NLGIC acquired the minority shareholding under the Takeover and Acquisition Regulation E/2/2019 
resulting in 100% effective ownership of the Company.  

2. Basis of preparation

2.1 Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and comply 
with applicable requirements of the Commercial Companies Law of 2019, Insurance Companies 
Law, as amended and relevant requirements of the Capital Market Authority of the Sultanate of 
Oman.

2.2 Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for financial 
instruments at fair value through profit and loss, available-for-sale and revaluation of land and 
building. The Company presents its statement of financial position in order of liquidity. 

2.3 Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Rial Omani which is the Company’s functional and 
presentation currency. All values are rounded to nearest Rial Omani (RO). 

2.4 Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expense. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revision to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in the future periods 
affected.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2022

2.       Basis of preparation (continued)

2.4  Use of estimates and judgments (continued)

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in 
applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements are described in note 4. 

Impact of COVID-19 

On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organization ("WHO") officially declared COVID-19 a global 
pandemic. In light of the rapid spread of COVID-19 across the globe, various economies and sectors 
have faced significant disruptions and uncertainty and governments and authorities have instigated a 
host of measures to contain or delay the spread of the virus. 

This note outlines the steps taken by the Company to estimate the impact of COVID-19 and the 
judgements applied by management in assessing the values of assets and liabilities as at 31 December 
2022. 

Insurance risk

In its underwriting segment, the Company is primarily exposed to business interruption policies. The 
Company has in place pandemic and infectious disease policy exclusions as well. The Company has 
evaluated all business interruption policies in force for which the Company may have to incur claim 
payouts. As a result of initial examination of the policies, the Company has determined that these will 
not have a material impact in relation to the net claims paid due to specific policy exclusions and the
support from its reinsurers. Furthermore, the Company has been able to retain major customers during 
the year ended 31 December 2022 and has generally witnessed renewals and new business across 
major lines of businesses.

Reinsurance risk

The Company’s reinsurance is placed with reinsurance companies approved by the management, 
which are generally international reputed companies with high credit ratings. As of 31 December 
2022, no reinsurance companies have expressly disassociated with the Company nor have any 
reinsurance companies communicated their non-willingness to accept COVID-19 related claims.

Credit risk

The Company has robust governance in place to ensure the appropriateness of provision against 
doubtful insurance receivables and the resultant estimates are being reviewed continuously by the 
management.

For year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has used specific measures to assess probability of 
impairment and possible defaults or delay in collection or payment of outstanding debts. 

Liquidity risk management

In response to COVID-19 outbreak, the Company continues to monitor and respond to all liquidity 
requirements that are presented. The Company continues to calibrate stress testing scenarios to 
current market conditions in order to assess the impact on the Company in the current extreme stress. 
As at the reporting date the liquidity position of the Company remains strong and is well placed to 
absorb and manage the impacts of this disruption. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2022

2.       Basis of preparation (continued)

2.5 Standards, amendments, and interpretations effective in 2022 and relevant for the entity’s 
operations 

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has adopted all of new and revised standards 
and interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) of the IASB that are relevant to 
its operations and effective for periods beginning on 1 January 2022. The following amendments to 
existing standards and framework have been applied by the Company in preparation of these financial 
statements.

- Reference to the Conceptual Framework (Amendments to IFRS 3) 
- Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments to IAS 16) 
- Annual Improvement to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 

The above standards did not have any impact on the Company’s financial statements.

3.        Summary of significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these
financial statements and have been consistently applied by the Company. 

3.1      Business combination

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred 
in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-
date fair values of the assets transferred by the Company to the former owners of the acquiree and 
the equity interests issued by the Company in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

When the Company acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for 
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic 
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of 
embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, any previously held equity interest is re-measured 
at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. It is then 
considered in the determination of goodwill. 

3.2      Goodwill 

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of identifiable net assets 
of business acquired as of the date of acquisition. The cost of acquisition is the amount of cash paid 
and the fair value of other purchase consideration. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured 
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 

The Company determines whether goodwill is impaired on at least an annual basis. The recoverable 
amount of an asset or CGU (Cash generating unit) is the greater of its value in use and its fair value 
less cost to sell. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which 
the goodwill is allocated.  Estimating the value in use requires the Company to make an estimate 
of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable 
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

3.3      Intangible assets

The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination is fair value as at the date of 
acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets are amortised over the useful 
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset 
may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are 
reviewed at least at each financial year end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected 
pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by 
changing the amortization period or method, as appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting 
estimates. The amortisation expenses on intangible assets are recognised in profit or loss. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2022

3.        Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.3      Intangible assets (continued)

Determining whether intangible asset is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the 
cash-generating units to which it relates to. The value in use calculation requires the Company to 
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount 
rate in order to calculate present value. 

3.4      Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and bank balances and time deposits that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 
value.  Time deposits that have an original maturity of more than three months from the date of 
acquisition are excluded from cash and cash equivalents.

3.5      Insurance and reinsurance receivables  

Insurance and reinsurance receivable are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently are stated 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method less impairment losses, if any. A provision for 
impairment of insurance and reinsurance receivables is established when there is objective evidence 
that the Company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of 
receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.  

3.6      Investment securities 

The Company classifies its investments upon initial recognition into the following categories: 

Investments at fair value through profit or loss  

Held-to-maturity investments

Available-for-sale investments

Investments at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL): 
  

Financial assets and financial liabilities classified in this category are designated by management 
on initial recognition when the following criteria are met: 

the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would 
otherwise arise from measuring the assets or liabilities or recognising gains or losses on them on 
a different basis; or 

the assets and liabilities are part of a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both 
which are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with 
a documented risk management or investment strategy; or

the financial instrument forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded 
derivatives and IAS 39 Financial Instruments : Recognition and Measurement permits the 
entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL. 

A financial asset is classified as at fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as held for trading 
or is designated as such on initial recognition.

Held-to-maturity investments: 

Held-to-maturity investments are those which carry fixed or determinable payments and have 
fixed maturities and which the Company has the intention and ability to hold to maturity. These 
assets are initially measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. After 
initial measurement, held-to-maturity investments are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method, less allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by 
taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are an integral part of the 
effective interest rate. The amortisation is included in ‘investment income’ in the statement of profit 
or loss.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2022

3.        Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.6      Investment securities (continued)

Available-for-sale (AFS) investments:  

AFS investments are those which are neither classified as held for trading nor designated at fair 
value through profit or loss. Quoted shares held by the Company that are traded in an active 
market are stated at fair value at the end of each reporting period. 

Fair value is determined in the manner described in note 31. Changes in the carrying amount of 
AFS monetary financial assets relating to changes in foreign currency rates, interest income 
calculated using the effective interest method and dividends on AFS equity investments are 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Other changes in the carrying amount of available-
for-sale financial assets are recognised in the statement of other comprehensive income and 
accumulated under the ‘investments revaluation reserve’. When the investment is disposed of or 
is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the 
investment’s revaluation reserve is reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose 
fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost less any identified impairment losses 
at the end of each reporting period.  

The Company determines whether available-for-sale investments are impaired when there has 
been a significant or prolonged decline in their fair value below cost. This determination of what 
is significant or prolonged requires judgement. In making this judgement and to record whether 
impairment occurred, the Company evaluates among other factors, the normal volatility in share 
price, the financial health of the investee, industry and sector performance, changes in technology 
and operational and financial cash flows.

Trade and settlement date accounting: 
  

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, i.e. the date 
that the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset.  

3.7      Derecognition of financial instruments 

The derecognition of a financial asset takes place when the Company no longer controls the 
contractual rights that comprise the financial instrument, which is normally the case when the 
instrument is sold, or all the cash flows attributable to the instrument are passed through to an 
independent third party.

The Company derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or 
cancelled or expire.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of 
financial position when, and only when, the Company currently has a legally enforceable right to 
offset the amounts and intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously. 

3.8     Property and equipment 

Property and equipment other than land and building, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and any impairment in carrying value. Land and building are initially recorded at cost and 
subsequently measured at fair value.



Al Ahlia Insurance Company SAOG 

16

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2022

3.        Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.8     Property and equipment (continued)

When an asset is carried at fair value, any increase in the carrying amount arising on revaluation is 
credited directly to other comprehensive income under the revaluation reserve, except to the extent 
that a revaluation increase merely restores the carrying value of an asset to its original cost, in which 
case the increase is credited to profit or loss to the extent of decrease previously expensed. A decrease 
resulting from a revaluation is initially charged directly against any related revaluation surplus held 
in respect of that same asset, the remaining portion being charged as an expense. On disposal, the 
related revaluation surplus is credited to the retained earnings.

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all premises and equipment, other than freehold 
land which is determined to have an indefinite life. The rates of depreciation are based upon the 
following estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Building over 40 years
Motor vehicles over 3 years
Furniture over 4 years
Equipment over 3 years
Software over 5 years

The carrying values of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists 
and where the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets are written down 
to their recoverable amount. 

For revalued assets, any surplus arising on revaluation is recognised in other comprehensive income 
except that the surplus reverses a previous revaluation deficit on the same asset recognised in profit 
or loss, in which case the credit to that extent is recognised in profit or loss. Any deficit on revaluation 
is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it reverses a previous revaluation surplus on 
the same asset, in which case debit to that extent is recognised in other comprehensive income. 
Incremental depreciation on revaluation surplus is transferred to retained earnings on annual basis.

3.9     Impairment and uncollectibility 

Financial assets 

An assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence that 
a financial asset or group of financial assets may be impaired. If such evidence exists, any impairment 
loss is recognised in the profit or loss. Impairment is determined as follows:

a) For assets carried at fair value, impairment is the difference between cost and fair value; less any 
impairment loss previously recognised in the profit or loss; 

b) For assets carried at cost, impairment is the difference between carrying value and the present 
value of future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial 
asset; and  

c) For assets carried at amortised cost, impairment is based on estimated cash flows discounted at 
the original effective interest rate.

           Non-financial assets
At each reporting date, the Company assesses if there is any indication of impairment of non-
financial assets other than goodwill. If an indication exists, the Company estimates the recoverable 
amount of the asset and recognizes an impairment loss in the profit or loss.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2022

3.        Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.9     Impairment and uncollectibility (continued)

Non-financial assets (continued)
The Company also assesses if there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior 
years no longer exists or has reduced. The resultant impairment loss or reversals are recognised
immediately in the profit or loss. Any impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a 
subsequent period.

3.10    Claims 

Claims consist of amounts payable to contract holders and third parties and related loss adjustment 
expenses, net of salvage and other recoveries, and are charged to profit or loss as incurred. 

Gross outstanding claims comprise the gross estimated cost of claims incurred but not settled at the 
reporting date, whether reported or not. Provision for reported claims not paid as at the reporting date 
is made on the basis of individual case estimates. In addition, a provision based on the Company’s 
prior experience is maintained for the cost of settling claims incurred but not reported at the reporting 
date.

Any difference between the provisions at the reporting date and settlements and provisions in the 
following year is included in the underwriting account for that year. 

3.11    Liability adequacy test

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether the recognised insurance liabilities are 
adequate using current estimates of future cash flows under its insurance contracts.  If that assessment 
shows that the carrying amount of its insurance liabilities is inadequate in the light of  estimated
future cash flows, the entire deficiency is immediately recognised in profit or loss and an unexpired 
risk provision created.

The Company does not discount its liability for unpaid claims as substantially all claims are expected 
to be paid within one year of the reporting date.

3.12   Reinsurance

In order to minimise financial exposure from large claims the Company enters into agreements with 
other parties for reinsurance purposes. Premiums ceded and claims reimbursed are presented on a 
gross basis. 

Amounts due to reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the related reinsured policies 
and in accordance with the reinsurance contract. 

Claims receivable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the claim liability and 
in accordance with the reinsurance contract. These are shown as assets in the statement of financial 
position until the claim is paid by the Company. Once the claim is paid the amount due from the 
reinsurer in connection with the paid claim is transferred to “Insurance and reinsurance receivables”. 
Ceded reinsurance arrangements do not relieve the Company from its obligations to policyholders.

Where the carrying amount of a reinsurance asset exceeds its recoverable amount the asset is 
considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2022

3.        Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.13    End of service benefits

The Company contributes to the pension scheme for Omani nationals in accordance with the Omani 
Public Authority for Social Insurance under Royal Decree No. 72/91. This is a defined contribution 
pension plan and the Company's contributions are charged to profit or loss in the period to which 
they relate. In respect of this scheme, the Company has a legal and constructive obligation to pay the 
fixed contributions as they fall due and no obligations exist to pay the future benefits. 

The Company's obligation in respect of non-Omani employees’ end of service benefits is the amount 
of future benefit that such employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior 
periods having regard to the employee contract and Oman Labour Law 2003, as amended.  

In accordance with the provisions of IAS 19, Employee benefits, management carries an exercise to 
assess the present value of the Company’s obligations as of reporting date, using the actuarial 
techniques, in respect of employees’ end of service benefits payable under the Oman aforesaid 
Labour Law. Under this method, an assessment is made of an employee’s expected service life with 
the Company and the expected basic salary at the date of leaving the service.

3.14    Other liabilities 

Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether 
billed by the supplier or not.  

3.15    Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Company has an obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of 
a past event, and the costs to settle the obligation are both probable and able to be reliably measured.

3.16    Fair values

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is 
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place 
either:

 In the principal market for the asset or liability
Or
In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Company. The fair value 
of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when 
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

The fair value of interest-bearing items is estimated based on discounted cash flows using interest 
rates for items with similar terms and risk characteristics.

3.17    Premiums earned

Net premiums, after deducting policy acquisition costs, are recognised as revenue. Premiums are taken 
into income over the term of the policies. Unearned premiums represent the portion of premiums 
written relating to the unexpired period of coverage. The change in the provision for unearned 
premiums is taken to the profit or loss in order that revenue is recognised over the period of risk.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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3.        Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.17    Premiums earned (continued)

Unearned premiums are those premiums written in a year that relate to period of risk after the reporting 
date. Unearned premiums are calculated on a daily pro rata basis. The proportion attributable to 
subsequent period is deferred as a provision for unearned premium. An additional provision is created 
to cover shortfall, if any, for each class of business between the total amount in the unearned premium 
reserve and the amount required by the Oman Insurance Companies Law.

Acquisition costs comprise the direct and indirect costs of obtaining and processing new insurance 
business. Deferred acquisition costs are calculated as a percentage of unearned premium reserve, 
include an element of commission and are recognised as a portion of premium earned. 

3.18   Commissions income and expense

Commissions income and expense are recognised at the time policies are written.

3.19   Interest revenue

Interest revenue is recognised as the interest accrues using the effective interest method, under which 
the rate used exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the 
financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

3.20   Dividend income

Dividends on investments are recognised in profit or loss when the Company’s right to receive the 
dividends is established.

3.21    Income tax

Taxation is provided for in accordance with Omani tax regulations.

Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the 
reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the 
period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.  

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and carry-forward 
of unused tax assets and unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax assets 
and unused tax losses can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part 
of the deferred income tax asset to be utilized. 

3.22   Leases

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract 
is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a 
period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to 
control the use of an identified asset, the Company uses the definition of a lease in IFRS 16. 
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3.        Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.22   Leases (continued)

i. As a lessee

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Company 
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative stand-
alone prices.

The Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The 
right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability 
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs 
incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the 
underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentive received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying 
asset to the Company by the end of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the 
Company will exercise a purchase option. In that case the right-of-use asset will be depreciated over 
the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis as those of property and 
equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and 
adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at 
the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be 
readily determined, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Company uses its 
incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

The Company determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from various 
external financing sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of 
the asset leased.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

- fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;
- variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate 

as at the commencement date;
- amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and
- the exercise price under a purchase option that the Company is reasonably certain to exercise, lease 

payments in an optional renewal period if the Branch is reasonably certain to exercise an extension 
option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Company is reasonably certain not 
to terminate early.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured 
when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a 
change in the Company’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value 
guarantee, if the Company changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or 
termination option or if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying 
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The Company presents right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the statement of financial position.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Company has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-
value assets and short-term leases. The Company recognises the lease payments associated with these 
leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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3.        Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.23    Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling on the date of the transaction.  
Monetary assets and liabilities at the reporting date denominated in foreign currencies are translated 
at the rate of exchange ruling at that date.  All exchange differences arising are taken to the profit or 
loss. 

3.24   Operating segment

An operating segment is a component of the Company that engages in business activities from which 
it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions 
with any of the Company’s other components. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed 
regularly by the CEO to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its 
performance.

3.25   Earnings per share

The Company presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic 
EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is 
determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

3.26   Dividend on ordinary shares

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability and deducted from equity when they are 
approved by the Company’s shareholders. Interim dividends are deducted from equity when they are 
approved. 

Dividends for the year that are approved after the reporting date are dealt with as an event after the 
reporting date. 

3.27   Directors’ remuneration

The board of directors’ remuneration is accrued within the limits specified by the Capital Market 
Authority and the requirements of the Commercial Companies Law of the Sultanate of Oman, as 
amended. 

3.28   Standards issued but not yet effective

A number of new standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2022 and 
earlier application is permitted. However, the Company has not early adopted the new standards in 
preparing these financial statements.

The Company will apply IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 for the first time on 1 January 2023. These standards 
will bring significant changes to the accounting for insurance and reinsurance contracts and financial 
instruments and are expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements in the 
period of initial application.

i) IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

IFRS 17 replaces IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts and is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2023, with early adoption permitted. The Company expects to first apply IFRS 17 on that 
date. IFRS 17 establishes principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure 
of insurance contracts, reinsurance contracts and investment contracts with direct participation 
features (“DPF”). 
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3.        Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.28   Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

i) IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (continued)

1) Structure and status of the Implementation project

A. Timeline 

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued the final draft for IFRS 17 “Insurance 
Contracts” in May 2017. In order to ensure its adoption in an orderly and seamless manner the 
Company has followed the following ‘four phases’ approach for IFRS 17 adoption. 

Phase I : Gap Analysis  
Phase II : Financial & Operational Impact Assessment
Phase III : Implementation Plan
Phase IV : Implementation & Dry Run

B. Governance structure

The IFRS 17 Project Governance and Control Structure of the Company has been developed to ensure 
robust project management and governance practices.  

The IFRS 17 Project Governance Structure of the Company comprises of the following: 

Board of Directors is responsible for the oversight of IFRS 17 implementation and review and 
approval of implementation budget.

Board Audit Committee is responsible for overall governance of the implementation. 

Project Steering Committee, is responsible for:
Monitoring Project milestones;
Resolution of key issues and challenges;
Adherence to implementation plan; 
Ratification of key design decisions and; 
Review of dry run results 

Project Working Group consists of pool of resources from various functions of the Company 
to support and provide input to the Project Management Team and Steering Committee during 
IFRS 17 implementation.

Internal Auditor - The Company’s Internal Audit function has carried out an audit on IFRS 17 
Implementation, it primarily focused on the design and operating effectiveness of governance
controls and processes. The report was rated “Sufficient” thus establishing that there were adequate 
governance controls around the planning of IFRS 17 implementation. 

C. Key areas remaining to be completed

System integration

The Company intend to integrate the IFRS 17 Calculation Engine into its system landscape, 
following completion of several successful iterations of live reporting to ensure all issues are 
remediated before investing into automation. 

Resourcing

The IFRS 17 Project Team will continue to support the business team post “Go Live” until the 
point the process is fully embedded, knowledge has been adequately transferred and all the 
relevant functions are ready to take it forward for business as usual.
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3.      Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.28   Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

i) IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (continued)

2) Significant judgements and accounting policy choices 

The Company is expected to apply the following significant accounting policies in the preparation of 
financial statement on the effective date of this standard i.e. 1st January 2023: 

A. Contracts within/outside the scope of IFRS 17  

A contract is an insurance contract that falls under the scope of IFRS 17 if it transfers significant 
insurance risk or it is an investment contract with Discretionary Participation Features (“DPF”). IFRS 
17 identifies as insurance contracts those contracts under which the entity accepts significant 
insurance risk from another party (the policyholder), by agreeing to compensate the policyholder in 
case a specified uncertain future event (the insured event), adversely affects the policyholder.  

A reinsurance contract held is defined as an insurance contract issued by one entity (the reinsurer), 
to compensate another entity for claims arising from one or more insurance contracts issued by that 
other entity (underlying contracts). Even if a reinsurance contract does not expose the issuer to the 
possibility of a significant loss, that contract is deemed to transfer significant insurance risk if it 
transfers substantially all the insurance risk relating to the reinsured portions of the underlying 
insurance contracts to the reinsurer.

Approach for assessment of significant insurance risk
IFRS 17 paragraph B18-B19 and B23 outlines the requirements to determine the significance of 
insurance risk.  

Insurance risk is significant if, and only if, there is a scenario with commercial substance which 
exposes the insurer to the possibility of: 

suffering a loss on a present value basis caused by the insured event; and  
paying significant additional amounts determined on a present value basis beyond what would 
be paid if the insured event had not occurred. 

The significance of insurance risk will be assessed on a contract-by-contract basis. Insurance risk can 
be significant even if the insured event is extremely unlikely to occur, or if the expected probability-
weighted present value of the contingent cash flows is a small proportion of the expected probability-
weighted present value of all of the remaining contractual cash flows.

For the Company, significant insurance risk exists if there is a scenario with commercial substance 
in which the Company has a possibility of making a loss on a present value basis that is greater than 
1% of the value of the total premium charged to the policyholder. 

The amounts in the above test include claims handling and assessment costs, but exclude:

a payment conditional on an event that does not cause a significant loss to the policyholder
possible reinsurance recoveries (i.e. the test should not be performed net of reinsurance) 

Contracts acquired in a transfer of insurance contracts or a business combination should be treated as 
if they had been entered into on the date of the transaction.  

A contract that meets the definition of an insurance contract at initial recognition is not reassessed 
over its lifetime but remains an insurance contract until all rights and obligations are extinguished 
(discharged, cancelled or expired), unless the contract is derecognized because of a contract 
modification. 
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3.        Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.28   Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

i) IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (continued)

2) Significant judgements and accounting policy choices (continued)

A. Contracts within/outside the scope of IFRS 17 (continued)

Analysis of in-force portfolio

All contracts issued by the Company, meet the definition of significant insurance risk, as there is 
always a scenario with commercial substance in which the Company has a possibility of making a 
loss on a present value basis that is greater than 1% of the value of the total premium charged to the 
policyholder. 

IFRS 17 also applies to investment contracts with discretionary participation features, provided the 
entity also issues insurance contracts, but this is not applicable for the Company as it does not issue 
such contracts. 

B. Combination/Unbundling of Contracts 

An insurance contract may contain one or more components that would be within the scope of 
another Standard if they were separate contracts. For example, an insurance contract may include an 
investment component or a service component (or both). The non-insurance components may need 
to be separated for the purposes of reporting under IFRS 17 if they are deemed to be distinct. 

The Company carried out an assessment in order to identify whether it underwrites insurance 
contracts that may contain one or more components that would be within the scope of another 
standard if they were separate contracts. 

The separation of embedded derivatives, investment components and service components were 
assessed separately as illustrated below. 

Separation of Embedded Derivatives

The Company does not underwrite any insurance contracts that contain embedded derivatives.  

Separation of Investment Component

The Company offers a no-claims discount (“NCD”) which is offered as a discount on next year’s 
premium due to favorable claim experience. This arrangement does not require unbundling because:

The investment and insurance components are highly interrelated due to the fact that the 
policyholder cannot benefit from one component unless the other is also present.  
It would be very unlikely to find a contract sold separately in the same market with identical 
terms including uncertainty in the timing of the cash flows. 

Separation of non-insurance service components

The Company offers roadside assistance as an optional cover on its motor policies. This service 
relates to insurance services because it would only be required by the policyholders upon the 
occurrence of insured events. As a result, it is not considered distinct and hence no unbundling is 
required. 

The Company does not offer any distinct goods or non-insurance services that require unbundling 
under IFRS 17.  
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3.        Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.28   Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

i) IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (continued)

2) Significant judgements and accounting policy choices (continued)

C. Level of Aggregation 

Level of aggregation framework - Gross business 

The Company has used the following stepped approach to define the level of aggregation of its 
insurance contracts:

1. Defining portfolios
2. Dividing groups into annual cohorts 
3. Identifying profitability groups 

1. Defining portfolios  

IFRS 17 requires contracts to be grouped into portfolios based on: 

a. the similarity of risks, and

b. contracts being managed together.

Judgement and interpretation are required in the application of these two concepts as IFRS 17 does 
not clearly define them: 

a. Similarity of risks

The risks to be considered when defining portfolios should be insurance risks that the Company 
accepts from the policyholder (or risks ceded to the reinsurer) and not financial risks. Contracts 
within a product line would be expected to have similar risks and hence would be expected to be in 
the same portfolio if managed together.

In determining whether the Company’s contracts exemplify broadly similar risks, the following 
elements should be considered:

type of claims and insured events;
frequency of claims;
average size of claims;
legislation governing the product; and 
any other relevant cash flow characteristics in relation to the insured risks.

In determining the different product lines based on the similar risk characteristics pointed above, 
the Company considers that there is a clear distinction between personal and commercial lines 
mainly due to the size and frequency of underlying claims and to a lesser extent due to different 
legislation governing the related products (where applicable). 

b. Managed together 

Information is managed together when it is analyzed and used in aggregate for decision-making, 
reporting and assessment of business performance. Information is managed together when discrete 
financial information is available and is regularly reviewed.

The Company’s structure for internal management reporting, decision-making, assessment of 
business performance and communication to investors is currently aligned to product lines i.e. 
personal and commercial lines.
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3.        Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.28    Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

i) IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (continued)

2) Significant judgements and accounting policy choices (continued)

C.      Level of Aggregation (continued)

Level of aggregation framework - Gross business (continued)

2. Dividing profitability groups into annual cohorts

The Company shall not include contracts issued more than a year apart in the same group. The 
Company’s annual cohorts are aligned with the financial/ underwriting years. Where certain data 
is not available by underwriting year an appropriate allocation approach is used. 

3. Identifying profitability Groups

Portfolios will be subdivided into groups of insurance contracts based on their profitability. The 
minimum requirement of profitability groupings under a portfolio is the following: 

a. Contracts onerous at initial recognition. 
b. Contracts with no significant possibility of becoming onerous subsequently; and 
c. Contracts not included in (a) or (b) above.

In practice, it is possible for any of the three categories above to comprise no contracts depending 
on the expected level of profitability. Consequently, the three groups above could be reduced to 
two or one group per portfolio depending on facts and circumstances and underlying profitability 
characteristics. 

The Company’s profitability assessment should be performed at lowest level which is the analyst 
class. The Company shall establish the groups at initial recognition and shall not reassess the 
composition of the groups subsequently. Under Premium Allocation Approach (PAA), it is 
assumed that no contracts are onerous at initial recognition unless facts and circumstances indicate 
otherwise.

An onerous loss provision is required for groups of contracts that are onerous at initial recognition 
as well as for profitable groups that subsequently become onerous. This is calculated as the 
difference between the value under PAA and under the General Measurement Model (GMM).

The basis on which profitability is monitored in order to assess the performance of the business at 
the defined level of aggregation: 

Changes in the latest view of current year claims loss ratios
Current year Combined Operating Ratios (CORs) in excess of 100% for the past 3 years 
excluding Prior Year Development (PYD). 
Changes in market conditions such as the entry of a competitor with an aggressive pricing or 
marketing strategy.
Detrimental changes in Terms & Conditions.
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3.        Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.28    Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

i) IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (continued)

2) Significant judgements and accounting policy choices (continued)

C.      Level of Aggregation (continued)

Level of aggregation framework - Gross business (continued)

3.    Identifying profitability Groups (continued)

Insurance Portfolios Line of Business Analyst Class Group

Commercial 

Engineering Engineering 

Onerous OR 
Remaining

based on 
Onerosity 
assessment

Liability General Accident

Marine Marine

Property Fire

Commercial Motor
Commercial Motor (Third 

Party)

Commercial Motor
Commercial Motor 
(Comprehensive)

Group Life Group Life

Personal

Personal Motor Personal Motor (Third Party)

Personal Motor
Personal Motor 

(Comprehensive)

Others General Accident

Personal Household Fire

Level of aggregation framework – Reinsurance business 

Reinsurance contracts held should be measured separately from the underlying insurance contracts 
issued and, hence, should follow a separate level of aggregation. Portfolios of reinsurance contracts 
held should reflect the different risk characteristics of reinsurance contracts and how outwards 
reinsurance is managed.

For the split of reinsurance contracts held into the different levels of aggregation, the Company 
should apply the same requirements as for insurance contracts issued. As reinsurance contracts held 
cannot be onerous, profitability groupings for reinsurance contracts held should be determined based 
on whether there is a net gain or net cost from purchasing reinsurance at initial recognition.  
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3.        Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.28    Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

i) IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (continued)

2) Significant judgements and accounting policy choices (continued)

C.      Level of Aggregation (continued)

Level of aggregation framework - Reinsurance business (continued)

The level of aggregation of reinsurance contracts held is described below:

1. Defining portfolios  

The Company shall distinguish between different types of reinsurance arrangements when defining 
the terms ‘similar risks’ and ‘managed together’:

Treaty reinsurance
By the nature and definition of a reinsurance programme similar risks are often already 
grouped in reinsurance contracts. Where reinsurance treaties cover different type of risks 
arising from multiple underlying contracts, the lowest level of aggregation for a portfolio 
aligns to the reinsurance structure at a treaty level. For the definition of ‘portfolio’ the 
reinsurance programme has been split to be aligned with corresponding gross insurance 
contract, to establish one to one mapping between gross group of contracts. 
   
Non treaty reinsurance covers a single underlying insurance contract or related insurance 
contracts and mirrors its coverage period and contract boundary. As with the underlying 
individual insurance contracts they cover, such reinsurance contracts can be grouped together 
with other reinsurance contracts (that are managed together and cover broadly similar risks) 
to form groups and portfolios. These reinsurance portfolios and groups would naturally align 
with the portfolios and groups of the underlying gross contracts.

2. Dividing groups into annual Cohorts 

Groups of reinsurance contracts held should not contain reinsurance contracts issued more than one 
year apart. 

3. Identifying profitability Groups

As for gross business, the Standard requires the reinsurance contracts held within a portfolio to be 
allocated into a minimum of three groups of contracts:
  
a. a group of contracts on which there is a net gain at initial recognition, if any; 
b. a group of contracts on which at initial recognition there is no significant possibility of a net 

gain arising subsequently, if any; and 
c. a group of remaining contracts in the portfolio, if any.  

This will need to be assessed on a case-by-case basis, but additional consideration should be given 
to groups where there is a net gain on initial recognition as to whether there has been a true transfer 
of risk to the reinsurer.
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3.        Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.28    Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

i) IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (continued)

2) Significant judgements and accounting policy choices (continued)

D. Measurement – Overview 

IFRS 17 introduces a measurement model based on the estimates of the present value of future cash 
flows that are expected to arise as the Company fulfils the contracts, an explicit risk adjustment for 
non-financial risk and a Contractual Service Margin (CSM). The PAA is an optional simplified 
measurement model in IFRS 17 that is available for insurance and reinsurance contracts that meet 
the eligibility criteria. 

The Company will apply the PAA approach as the eligibility criteria of para 53(a) & (b) has been 
fulfilled for all its portfolios; however, in case of any changes in the term and conditions of the 
contracts or introduction of new contract with coverage period of more than one year, the Company 
will re-perform the PAA eligibility test.

E.      Significant Judgements and Estimates  

The critical and significant judgements and changes in judgements made in applying IFRS 17 are 
given below:

PAA eligibility assessment approach

According to the IFRS 17 Standard, an entity may simplify the measurement of a group of insurance 
contracts using the PAA if and only if, certain criteria are met at the inception of the group:

the entity reasonably expects that such simplification would produce a measurement of the 
LFRC for the group that would not differ materially from the one that would be produced 
applying the requirements in paragraphs 32–52; or  
the coverage period of each contract in the group (including insurance contract services arising 
from all premiums within the contract boundary determined at that date applying paragraph 
34) is one year or less.  

The majority of the business written by the Company relates to contracts with coverage period of 
one year or less. Portfolios, which contain only contracts of this length, immediately qualify for the 
PAA method as they satisfy the second criterion described in paragraph.  

In cases where a group contains contracts which exceed the coverage period of one year, a PAA 
eligibility test is required to investigate whether the first criterion is satisfied as described in 
paragraph.  

It shall be noted that the criterion in paragraph 53(a) is not met if at the inception of the group an 
entity expects significant variability in the fulfilment cashflows that would affect the measurement 
of the LFRC during the period before a claim is incurred. Variability in the fulfilment cashflows 
increases with, for example: 

the extent of future cashflows relating to any derivatives embedded in the contracts; and 
the length of the coverage period of the group of contracts.

The Company has a procedure in place to assess PAA Eligibility. Following this methodology, only 
groups with GWP over 1% of the Company’s GWP and with 5% or more premiums related to 
contracts with coverage periods over 12 months need to be tested for PAA Eligibility.
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3.        Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.28   Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

i) IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (continued)

2) Significant judgements and accounting policy choices (continued)

E. Significant Judgements and Estimates (continued)

PAA eligibility assessment approach (continued)

An assessment was performed separately for the underlying insurance and reinsurance contracts held, 
which have coverage periods exceeding one year. The assessment was specifically performed on the 
following groups held: 
  

Commercial Property
Proportional Property, Engineering and Marine 

The PAA eligibility test was performed on the groups above as a whole, because they include 
contracts with coverage period of more than 1 year, and hence require a PAA eligibility assessment 
in line with the IFRS 17 Standard.  

Fulfilment cash flows

Fulfilment cash flows comprise estimates of future cash flows, an adjustment to reflect the time value 
of money and the financial risks related to future cash flows, to the extent that the financial risks are 
not included in the estimates of future cash flows, and a risk adjustment for non-financial risk.

Liability for Remaining Coverage (LFRC)

The Company has adopted the PAA for all insurance contracts issued and reinsurance contracts held. 
Therefore, the fulfilment cashflows related to future service are to be only required when company 
recognized an onerous group, whereby the Liability for Remaining Coverage (“LFRC”) under the 
General Measurement Model (“GMM”) was established to derive the onerous loss.

The expected future cash flows relating to future service were estimated as follows:

Expected future claims: Estimated by applying actuarial assumptions of future loss ratios on an 
IFRS 17 basis to the premiums earned. These were then transformed into cash flows by applying 
the appropriate claim payment patterns.
Expected future expenses: Based on expense ratios. Expense ratios captured only the directly 
attributable expenses. These were then transformed into cash flows by applying an appropriate 
payment pattern for the expenses.
Expected future premium payments: which was based on the premium inputs with a receipt 
pattern derived for the future premiums. The premium receipt pattern was derived based on 
historical data.

All cashflows were projected and reported on a quarterly basis within the Company’s calculation 
engine, discounted to present terms. The present value of expected inflows was subtracted from the 
present value of expected outflows and the total present value of expected cashflows was derived.

The sum of the present value of expected cashflows and the Risk Adjustment (RA) related to future 
service comprised the fulfilment cashflows for LFRC.
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3.        Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.28    Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

i) IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (continued)

2) Significant judgements and accounting policy choices (continued)

E.        Significant Judgements and Estimates (continued)

Fulfilment cash flows

Liability for Incurred Claims (LFIC)

The Fulfilment Cashflows for LFIC comprise the following: 

Best estimate of Reported but Not Settled (“RBNS”) claims, Incurred but Not Reported 
(“IBNR”) and Incurred but Not Enough Reported (“IBNER”).
Expenses already incurred but not yet paid in relation to claims and the cost of handling 
incurred claims at that date.
RA for past coverage 
Adjustment for Discounting

The Company’s reserves are currently calculated using actuarial reserving models and standard 
reserving techniques. Non-invasive changes are anticipated to claims reserving under IFRS 17 
therefore the current methodology is considered as fit for purpose to assess ultimate loss 
development and IBNR / IBNER provisions. If changes are required, it is anticipated that these will 
be minimal.

The calculation process for the best estimate for incurred claims is in place and is currently used 
for statutory reporting. One key change to current practice is discounting which was developed and 
applied to LFIC within the calculation engine. Using actuarial projection techniques, the Company 
derived the expected actuarial indication of reserves and payment patterns for all claims (incurred 
and incurred but not reported). The cashflows arising from past coverage were calculated by taking 
the multiplication of the reserves and the appropriate pattern. 

Discount Rates

The Company has measured all its insurance and reinsurance portfolios using the PAA. The 
Company has not discounted the LFRC as the time between providing each part of the coverage 
and the related premium due date is expected, at initial recognition, to be less than a year. For some 
contracts that have a coverage period of more than a year (e.g., Engineering), the premiums are 
paid in advance and therefore discounting might be applicable however, the impact has been 
assessed and on the grounds of materiality, discounting will not be applied. 

The Company has applied discounting to LFIC as there are a set of claims to be settled beyond 12 
months from the date they are incurred. The Company also applied discounting to the fulfilment 
cash flows related to future coverage used in the determination of the onerous loss for the onerous 
group of contracts. 

The Company used the top-down approach to determine the required discount rates. This approach 
is likely to reduce profit or loss volatility compared to determining yield curves using generic 
indices.

The calculation engine adopted by the Company has the capability to adjust LFRC and LFIC for 
the time value of money, if required, and accommodates the required yield curves. The yield curves 
that were used to discount the estimates of future cash flows were EIOPA yield curves for USD. 
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3.        Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.28    Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

i) IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (continued)

2) Significant judgements and accounting policy choices (continued)

E.        Significant Judgements and Estimates (continued)

Risk Adjustment (RA)

The purpose of the Risk Adjustment for non-financial risk is to measure the effect of uncertainty in 
the cashflows that arise from insurance contracts, other than uncertainty arising from financial risk. 
The total RA is composed of the RA for LFIC plus the RA for LFRC. The Company adopted the 
PAA simplification for the calculation of LFRC, therefore a RA for remaining coverage was only 
established for onerous group. 

For the development of a Risk Adjustment framework in line with Company's risk appetite that 
allows for the compensation that the company requires to bear uncertainty, the Company has decided 
to follow the Value at Risk (VaR) Method in line with Solvency II. 

Reinsurer Default Provision

As per the Standard, the Company should incorporate in the estimates of future cashflows all 
reasonable and supportable information available without undue cost or effort, about amount, 
timing, and uncertainty of those cashflows. This includes the effect of non-performance by the issuer 
of the reinsurance contracts held. The Company has applied a rate of 0.4% on Closing Reinsurance 
Incurred Claims towards Reinsurer Default Provision. 

VAT treatment

The data loaded into the IFRS 17 calculation engine is Net of VAT and therefore, there is no impact 
on application of IFRS 17 towards VAT treatment. 

F. Accounting Policy Choices 

Length of cohorts

Considering the operational complexities involved with respect to data and system and the limited 
benefit of having shorter period, the Company, decided to select the cohort duration of one year for 
which the Company will use an underwriting year as an approximation for issue year to determine 
these cohorts on the basis that these two dates would not be materially different. 

Use of OCI for Insurance Finance Income / Expense (IFIE)

Insurance finance income or expenses comprise the change in the carrying amount of the group of 
insurance contracts arising from:
  

a. the effect of the time value of money and changes in the time value of money;  
b. the effect of financial risk and changes in financial risk.

The Company has opted to include all insurance finance income or expenses for the period in profit 
or loss and therefore the impact of changes in discount rates and other financial variables will be 
included in profit or loss and not under OCI. 
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3.28   Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

i) IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (continued)

2. Significant judgements and accounting policy choices (continued)

F. Accounting Policy Choices (continued)  

Disaggregation of Risk Adjustment

In compliance with the Company's decision to apply discounting on LFIC, the Company has chosen 
to disaggregate RA into insurance service result and IFIE considering the calculation engine already 
has the functionality to perform the calculation.

Expenses

The majority of costs incurred by the Company are directly attributable to fulfilling insurance 
contracts and are either identified at an individual contract level or allocated to a group of insurance 
contracts in a systematic and rational manner using reasonable and supportable information. 

There are four main categories of expenses that are considered under IFRS 17:

Insurance acquisition costs: These include costs of selling, underwriting, and starting a group of 
insurance contracts and should be directly attributable to the portfolio of insurance contracts to which 
the groups belong. The deferred part of these costs relating to contracts issued forms part of the 
Liability for remaining coverage (LFRC) and the amortization for each reporting period is included 
within Insurance service expenses.

Incurred claims and claims handing expenses: These include known and expected (IBNR) claims, 
legal and loss adjusters’ fees, internal costs of investigating claims and processing claims payments 
as well as salvage and subrogation (to the extent these are not recognized as a separate asset). The 
presumption is that these costs can easily be identified and allocated to portfolios and groups of 
insurance contracts to which they are directly attributable. These costs are included within the 
calculation of the Liability for Incurred Claims (LFIC) and included within Insurance service 
expenses.

Administrative costs: These include general administrative expenses directly attributable to the 
insurance servicing activity such as costs of billing premiums, handling policy changes and all fixed 
and variable overheads (e.g., accounting, HR, IT, building depreciation, rentals). These costs will be 
allocated to portfolios and groups of contracts using methods that are systematic, rational, and 
consistently applied to all costs that have similar characteristics. Under the PAA model, these costs 
are recognized as incurred on an accrual basis and expensed directly to the Statement of Profit or 
Loss as a component of Insurance service expense.

Specifically excluded costs: IFRS 17 sets out specific cash flows that should be excluded from the 
insurance contract measurement. These costs include:

- Abnormal amounts of wasted labour or other resources 
- Costs that are not directly attributable to the portfolio of insurance contracts 
- Investment expenses

The Company will allocate all the expenses either direct or indirect because the Company believes 
that these costs are incurred to support its insurance business. The Company uses cost drivers to 
allocate the expenses whether direct or indirect in nature into the following categories:

- Directly classified attributable non-acquisition expenses 
- Allocated attributable non-acquisition expenses with systematic and rationale allocation   
  (S&RA)
- Directly classified insurance acquisition cost
- Allocated Acquisition costs with S&RA
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3.28    Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

i) IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (continued)

2. Significant judgements and accounting policy choices (continued)

F. Accounting Policy Choices (continued)  

Deferral of Acquisition Cost

In order to avoid variability in the profit and loss on year-by-year basis due to upfront expense out 
of the policy acquisition cost and the modification, which will be required in the system for 
immediate expense out of the policy acquisition cost, the Company as per the current assessment 
has decided to follow the practice of capitalization of acquisition cost under PAA.   

G. Presentation and Disclosure

Presentation 

IFRS 17 introduces a new way of presenting income and expenses relating to insurance contracts 
that moves away from a premium-based presentation approach for the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. It also introduces changes in the way insurance contract-related account balances are 
presented in the Statement of Financial Position.  

For presentation in the statement of financial position, the Company aggregates insurance and 
reinsurance contracts issued, and reinsurance contracts held, respectively and presents separately:

• Groups of insurance and reinsurance contracts issued that are assets
• Groups of insurance and reinsurance contracts issued that are liabilities
• Groups of reinsurance contracts held that are assets
• Groups of reinsurance contracts held that are liabilities

The line-item descriptions in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income will 
be change significantly compared with current year. Currently, the Company reported the following 
line items:

• Gross written premiums
• Net written premiums
• Changes in premium reserves
• Gross insurance claims
• Net insurance claims

    Instead, IFRS 17 requires separate presentation of: 

• Insurance revenue 
• Insurance service expenses
• Insurance finance income or expenses
• Income or expenses from reinsurance contracts held

Disclosures  

Reconciliations for changes in Liability for Remaining Coverage, Liability for Incurred 
Claims, and Loss Components for Insurance Contracts and for Reinsurance Held: 

The Company will be presenting a disclosure for the reconciliation of LFRC, LFIC and Loss 
component in the financial reporting for the period 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2023. The 
reconciliation of LFRC will be disclosed on a breakup basis between loss component and the 
remaining non-loss component. 
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3.28    Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

i) IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (continued)

2. Significant judgements and accounting policy choices (continued)

G. Presentation and Disclosure (continued)

Disclosures (continued)

Risk Framework: 

The IFRS 17 standard requires the risk adjustment to reflect the compensation an entity requires 
for bearing the uncertainty about the amount and timing of the cash flows that arises from non-
financial risk. IFRS 17 standard does not specify a specific calculation method. Industry papers 
and forums have indicated three main techniques which could be used to determine the risk 
adjustment:

o Confidence Interval 
o Cost of Capital
o Scenario-based

However, following the recent merger of the two entities, the Company is working towards 
standardizing their approach towards risk framework.

Sensitivity analysis: 

The Company awaits guidance from Regulators on the subject and therefore does not hold any 
opinion. 

H. Transition 

Choice of Method

Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 17 will be applied using a 
Modified Retrospective Approach (MRA).  The objective of the modified retrospective approach is 
to achieve the closest outcome to retrospective application possible using reasonable and 
supportable information available without undue cost or effort.  

The Company has opted to adopt Modified Retrospective Approach to achieve a transition result 
that is as close to the retrospective application as possible where only some information is missing. 
The simplification considered compared to the full retrospective approach: 

a. If information is not available to be able to separate contracts issued more than one year apart 
into annual cohorts, these can be aggregated together.

b. Annual cohorts are bucketed from at least two years immediately before the transition date. 

Comparatives

Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 17 will be applied 
retrospectively. The period will be restated to present comparative information as if the requirements 
of IFRS 17 had always been applied. 
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3.        Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.28    Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

ii) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early adoption permitted. However, the 
Company has met the relevant criteria and has applied the temporary exemption from IFRS 9 for 
annual periods before 1 January 2023. Consequently, the Company will apply IFRS 9 for the first 
time on 1 January 2023. 

1. Financial assets – Classification 

except equity instruments and derivatives, to be assessed based on a combination of the entity’s 

The classification of financial assets are:

a. Financial assets carried at amortized cost;
b. Financial assets carried at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); and 
c. Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 

a) Financial assets at amortized cost

A 
not designated as at FVTPL: 

(i) The asset is held within a “business model” whose objective is to hold assets to collect 

(ii) The contractual te

The details of these conditions are outlined below: 

(i) Business model assessment:  The Company determines its business model at the level that best 

The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking 'worst 
case' or 'stress case’ scenarios into account. 

(ii)

To make the SPPI assessment, the Company applies judgement and considers relevant factors such 

is set.

b) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI):

(i) Debt instruments at FVOCI: At initial recognition, the Company can apply the category under IFRS 
9 of debt instruments measured at FVOCI when both of the following conditions are met:

The instrument is held within a business model, the objective of which is achieved by both 
collecting 
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3.28   Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

ii) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

1. Financial assets – Classification (continued) 

b) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI):

FVOCI debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses arising due to 
changes in fair value recognized in OCI. Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial 
recognition, except when the Company changes its business model for managing financial assets.

(ii) Equity instruments at FVOCI:  Upon initial recognition, the Company may elect to classify 
irrevocably some of its equity investments as equity instruments at FVOCI when they meet the 

ncial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. 
-by-instrument basis.

c)

Financial assets at FVTPL include financial assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon 
initial recognition at FVTPL, or financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair value. 
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or 
repurchasing in the near term. 

Financial assets at FVTPL are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with net 
changes in fair value recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

Impact assessment 

IFRS 9 will affect the classification and measurement of financial assets held at 1 January 2023 as 
follows. 

Debt investments that are classified as available-for-sale under IAS 39 may, under IFRS 9, be 
measured at amortized cost, FVOCI or FVTPL, depending on the particular circumstances. 
The majority of equity investments that are classified as available-for-sale under IAS 39 will be 
measured at FVTPL under IFRS 9. However, some of these equity investments are held for long 
term strategic purposes and will be designated as at FVOCI on 1 January 2023; consequently, all 
fair value gains and losses will be reported in OCI, no impairment losses will be recognized in 
profit or loss, and no gains or losses will be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of these 
investments. 
Held-to-maturity investments and loans and receivables measured at amortized cost under IAS 
39 will generally also be measured at amortized cost under IFRS 9. 

2. Financial assets – Impairment

Impairment of financial assets

The Company recognizes loss allowances for expected credit losses on financial assets measured at 
amortized cost and debt investments measured at FVOCI.
The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses, except 
in the following cases, for which the amount recognized is 12-month expected credit losses:

debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and 
other financial instruments (other than lease receivables) for which credit risk has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition.
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3.28    Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

ii)      IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

2. Financial assets – Impairment (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Lifetime expected credit losses are the expected credit losses that result from all possible default 
events over the expected life of a financial instrument, whereas 12-month expected credit losses are 
the portion of expected credit losses that results from default events that are possible within the 12 
months after the reporting date. In all cases, the maximum period considered when estimating 
expected credit losses is the maximum contractual period over which the Company is exposed to 
credit risk.

Measurement of expected credit losses

Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses and are measured as 
follows: 

For financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: the present value of all cash 
shortfalls i.e. The difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the 
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive; and
For financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: the difference between the gross 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows. 

For Trade Receivables, the Company will apply a provisions matrix, which is a permitted practical 
expedient, and will result in the recognition of lifetime credit losses.

The Company has created ECL models that comply with IFRS 9 during 2022 and currently in 
progress of assessing the impact for 31 December 2022. The adjustments will be taken in 
shareholders’ equity in Q1 2023 and will not affect the income statement. 
   

Presentation of loss allowances in the statement of financial position:

Loss allowances for expected credit losses are presented as follows: 

financial assets measured at amortized cost: the loss allowance is deducted from the gross 
carrying amount of the assets. 
debt investments measured at FVOCI: the loss allowance is recognized in other comprehensive 
income and does not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset in the statement of financial 
position. 

3. Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities will be measured at amortized cost unless either the financial liability is held for 
trading and is therefore required to be measured at FVTPL (e.g., derivatives not designated in a 
hedging relationship), or the company elects to measure the financial liability at FVTPL (using the 
fair value option). Such options are irrevocable and can only be classified upon prior approval. 
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3.        Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.28    Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

ii)       IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

4. Transition 

In accordance with the transition provisions and choices provided by the standard, comparative 
figures for 2022 will not be restated.
In accordance with transition provisions and choices provided by the standard, where entity does 
not restate prior period, it will recognize any difference between the previous carrying amount 
and the carrying amount at the beginning of the annual period that includes the date of initial 
application (DIA) in the opening retained earnings (or other component of equity, as appropriate) 
of the annual reporting period that includes the DIA.

iii) Other standards 

A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning 
after 1 January 2022 and earlier application is permitted; however, the Company has not early 
adopted the new and amended standards in preparing these financial statements. 

Classification of liabilities as current or non-current – Amendments to IAS 1
Disclosure of Accounting policies – Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS practice statement 2.
Definition of accounting estimates – Amendments to IAS 8. 
Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction – Amendments to 
IAS 12

The Company is currently assessing the impact of the above on the financial statements.
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4. Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, 
management has made judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in 
the financial statements and applied certain assumptions, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the reporting date as discussed below. 

4.1     Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below:

The Company makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and based 
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Insurance claims

Estimates have to be made both for the expected ultimate cost of claims reported at the reporting date 
and for the expected ultimate cost of claims incurred but not yet reported (IBNR) at the reporting date. 
The primary technique adopted by management in estimating the cost of notified and IBNR claims, is 
that of using past claim settlement trends to predict future claims settlement trends. At each reporting 
date, prior year claims estimates are reassessed for adequacy and changes required are made to the 
provision. Adequacy of the claims estimates on an overall basis is also assessed by an independent 
actuary and adjustments if required are recorded in the underwriting account. General insurance claims 
provisions are not discounted for the time value of money.

Such estimates are necessarily based on assumptions about several factors involving varying, and 
possibly significant, degrees of judgement and uncertainty and actual results may differ from 
management’s estimates resulting in future changes in estimated liabilities.

The Company is exposed to disputes with, and possibility of defaults by, its reinsurers. The Company
monitors on a quarterly basis the evolution of disputes with and the strength of its reinsurers.

(b)   Liability adequacy test 

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether its recognised insurance liabilities are adequate 
using current estimates of future cash flows under its insurance contracts. If that assessment shows that 
the carrying amount of its insurance liabilities is inadequate in the light of estimated future cash flows, 
the entire deficiency is recognised in profit or loss and an unexpired risk provision created.  The 
Company does not discount its liability for unpaid claims as substantially all claims are expected to be 
paid within 12 months of the reporting date.

(c) Impairment of insurance and reinsurance receivables

An estimate of the collectible amount of insurance and reinsurance receivables is made when 
collection of the full amount is no longer probable. For individually significant amounts, this 
estimation is performed on an individual basis. Amounts which are not individually significant are 
assessed collectively and an allowance applied according to the length of time past due, based on 
historical recovery rates.
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5. Cash and cash equivalents  

Bank balances and cash in the statement of financial position comprise the following:

2022 2021
RO RO

Cash in hand 6,035 6,135
Cash and bank 2,740,609 1,640,825

----------------------------- -----------------------------
2,746,644 1,646,960

Bank balances amounting to RO 35,866 (2021 – RO 39,748), RO 93,514 (2021 – RO 1,214) and RO
392,575 (2021 – RO 3,480) are denominated in UAE Dirhams, Pound Sterling and US Dollars 
respectively.   

6. Bank deposits
2022 2021
RO RO

Bank deposits with a maturity of greater than three months 
  from the value date of deposits

34,728,097 36,528,097

  
The deposits are held with commercial banks in Oman and carry annual interest rates ranging from
3% to 5% (2021 – ranging from 3% to 5%).  

At the reporting date, the Company does not hold any bank deposits denominated in foreign currency 
nil (2021 – nil).

Bank deposits include balances with related party amounting to RO 22,592,335 (2021 – RO 
8,306,843) (note 24). 

7. Insurance and reinsurance receivables
2022 2021

RO RO

Due from policyholders 1,573,381 1,415,859
Due from agents and brokers 4,080,748 4,767,020
Due from reinsurance companies 831,248 206,348

6,485,377 6,389,227
Less: allowance for impaired debts (1,425,073) (1,363,530)

5,060,304 5,025,697

Insurance and reinsurance receivables include balances from the related parties amounting to RO 
48,918 (2021 – RO 33,696) (note 24). Allowance for impairment towards these receivables amounted 
to nil as of 31 December 2022 (2021 – nil).

Movements in allowance for impaired debts were as follows:
2022 2021
RO RO

At 1 January 1,363,530 1,182,385
Charge during the year 100,000 267,485
Written off during the year (38,457) (86,340)

----------------------------- -----------------------------
At 31 December 1,425,073   1,363,530  
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8. Other receivables and prepayments  
2022               2021
RO RO

        Accrued interest income 3,592,215 3,861,051
Receivable from related parties (note 24) 193,272 3,857
Prepaid expenses 257,019 57,244
Deferred acquisition costs 1,600,139 1,283,772
Sundry receivables 754,275 924,734

6,396,920 6,130,658

Deferred acquisition costs pertain to deferrable direct and indirect costs incurred in renewing and 
acquiring new insurance contracts during the financial period.  

Movements in deferred acquisition cost were as follows:

2022 2021
RO RO

At 1 January 1,283,772 1,089,053
Acquisition cost deferred during the year 1,600,139 1,283,772
Acquisition cost amortised during the year (1,283,772) (1,089,053)

At 31 December 1,600,139 1,283,772

9. Investment securities
2022 2021
RO RO

Investments at fair value through profit or loss (note 9.1) 570,018 94,741
Available-for-sale investments (note 9.2) 71,429 71,429
Held to maturity investments (note 9.3)                                                            2,318,421 2,407,429

2,959,868 2,573,599

Movement in investment securities during the year are as follows:

2022 2021
RO RO

At 1 January 2,573,599 2,550,060
Purchases during the year 496,215 -
Redeemed during the year (88,500) -
Fair value change and amortisation                                                            (21,446) 23,539

2,959,868 2,573,599

9.1 Investments at fair value through profit or loss 
2022 2021

Fair value Cost  Fair value Cost 
RO RO RO RO

Quoted – banking 76,812 35,864 57,073 35,864
Quoted – industrial 493,206 511,851 37,668 25,000

----------------------------- ----------------------------- ----------------------------- -----------------------------
570,018 547,715 94,741 60,864

----------------------------- ----------------------------- ----------------------------- -----------------------------
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9. Investment securities (continued)

9.2 Available-for-sale investments
2022 2021

Fair value Cost  Fair value Cost 
RO RO RO RO

           Unquoted – services 71,429 71,429 71,429 71,429

9.3 Held-to-maturity investments

Effective 2022 2021
interest rate % RO RO

Government Development Bonds – Issue 50 5.21 - 88,171
Government Development Bonds – Issue 52 5.12 543,107 541,919
Government Development Bonds – Issue 53 5.17 1,425,314 1,427,339
Government Development Bonds – Issue 59 5.00 350,000 350,000

2,318,421 2,407,429

10.    Restriction on transfer of assets

In accordance with the law governing the operation of insurance companies within the Sultanate of 
Oman, the Company has identified to the Capital Market Authority certain specific bank deposits
and investments included in the statement of financial position at a total value of RO 29,296,573 
(2021 – RO 35,135,527). Under the terms of the legislation, the Company can transfer these assets 
only with the prior approval of the Capital Market Authority. 

The Company has provided a bank guarantee to the Capital Market Authority of RO 150,000 (2021 
– RO 150,000) to comply with the requirements of Article 51 of the Insurance Companies Law of 
the Sultanate of Oman (note 25).
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11. Property and equipment

Land and
building

Motor 
vehicles

Furniture and 
equipment

Capital 
work in 

progress Total
RO RO RO RO RO

Cost / valuation
At 1 January 2021 198,713 64,281 3,362,439 159,387   3,784,820
Additions - - 45,474 143,681   189,155  

At 1 January 2022 198,713 64,281 3,407,913 303,068 3,973,975
Additions - - 77,576 - 77,576
Disposal / Transfer 238,224 (238,224) -

At 31 December 2022 198,713 64,281 3,723,713 64,844 4,051,551

Depreciation
At 1 January 2021 7,834 64,281 2,527,709 - 2,599,824 
Charge for the year 718 - 300,677 - 301,395 

At 1 January 2022 8,552 64,281 2,828,386 -   2,901,219 
Charge for the year 660 - 280,107 - 280,767 

At 31 December 2022 9,212 64,281 3,108,493 - 3,181,986

Carrying value 
At 31 December 2022 189,501 - 615,220 64,844 869,565

At 31 December 2021 190,161 - 579,528 303,069 1,072,756

On 31 December 2022, in accordance with the Company’s policy, land and buildings were re-valued at 
their fair value for existing use by a professional valuer. On revaluation, any accumulated depreciation is 
eliminated against the gross carrying amount and the net amount restated to the revalued amount of the 
asset. If land and building had been carried at cost less depreciation, the carrying amount would have been 
RO 74,185 (2021 – RO 74,845).
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12. Goodwill     

Goodwill arising on acquisition  

Goodwill represents amount arising on acquisition of formerly Al Ahlia Insurance Company SAOC 
on 30 April, 2010. With effect from 17 January, 2011 the formerly Al Ahlia Insurance Company 
SAOC has been merged into the Company. 

RO

Consideration transferred 20,614,225
Less: fair value of identifiable net assets acquired (5,165,696)

Goodwill 15,448,529

Impairment testing

At the end of the reporting period, the Company assessed the recoverable amount of goodwill, 
using key assumptions including 1.9% (2021 – 2.5%) terminal growth rate, weighted average cost 
of capital in the range of 13.7% (2021 – 12.6%) and determined that goodwill was not impaired. 
The impairment test, amongst others, is dependent on the weighted average cost of capital and 
achievement of projected results for a five year period. Cost of capital reflects the market’s 
assessment of the entities future cash flows and is modelled taking into account risk free rate of 
return and adjusted for currency/country risk. Currency risk is determined by taking the spread of 
2 and 3 year Oman government bond yield with the yield on US government treasury bills of same 
tenure. The spread will capture any additional market risk and additional inflation/ currency 
depreciation risk specific as required by IAS 36. 

A rise in the pre – tax discount rate beyond 14% (i.e., +1%) would result in impairment assuming 
all other assumptions remained unchanged.

13. Share capital  

2022 2021
RO RO

Authorised – ordinary shares of 100 baizas each (2021 –

100 baizas each)

10,000,000 10,000,000

Issued and paid up – ordinary shares of 100 baizas each

(2021 – 100 baizas each)

10,000,000 10,000,000

Shareholders

The following shareholders of the Company own 10% or more of the Company’s share capital: 

2022 2021
No of shares % No of shares %

Royal & Sun Alliance Insurance 
  (Middle East) BSc (c)                                    

            
52,500,000 52.50% 52,500,000 52.50%

Oman International Development and 
  Investment Company SAOG - - 24,299,993 24.30%
National Life and General Insurance  
  Company SAOG 47,500,000 47.50% - -

100,000,000 100% 76,799,993 76.80%
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14.     Legal reserve

As required by the Commercial Companies Law of Oman, 10% of the profit for the year is required 
to be transferred to legal reserve until such time as the reserve equals one third of the Company’s 
paid up capital. The reserve is not available for distribution. At 31 December 2022, the legal reserve 
has reached one third of the issued capital accordingly no transfer made in the current year (2021 – 
nil).  

15.    Contingency reserve 

In accordance with Article 10 (bis) (2) (c) and 10 (bis) (3) (b) of Regulations for Implementing 
Insurance Companies Law (Ministerial Order 5/80), as amended:

10% of the net outstanding claims in case of the general insurance business at the reporting date 
is transferred from retained earnings to contingency reserve, and; 
1% of the life assurance premiums in case of the life assurance business is transferred from 
retained earnings to contingency reserve. 

The Company may discontinue this transfer when the reserve equals to the issued share capital or 
RO 5 million for foreign companies. The reserves shall not be used except by prior approval of the 
Capital Market Authority. 

At 31 December 2022, the Company’s contingency reserve is equal to the statutory limit of RO 10 
million and accordingly, no transfer has been made in the current year to the contingency reserve 
(2021: RO 10 million).

16.     Revaluation reserve

This represents the reserve as a result of revaluation of land and building.  

17. Unearned premium reserve
2022 2021
RO RO

Gross unearned premium reserve 8,391,717 7,190,554
Reinsurance share of unearned premium reserve (1,788,908) (139,471)

6,602,809 7,051,083

Movement during the year :

At 1 January 7,051,083 8,148,142
Premiums written during the year 15,819,884 14,696,160
Premiums earned during the year (16,268,878) (15,793,219)

At 31 December 6,602,809 7,051,083
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18.    Other liabilities and accruals

2022 2021
RO RO

     Due to related parties (note 24) 1,765,717 886,446
Other payables 4,896,073 4,561,883
Accrued expenses 557,374 816,677
Provision for end of service benefits 458,670 456,516
Accounts payable 781,317 599,847

8,459,151 7,321,369

Movements in the related liability for end of service benefits recognised in the statement of financial 
position are as follows:

2022 2021
RO RO

At 1 January 456,516 424,781 
Accrued during the year 72,114 73,866
Paid during the year (69,960) (42,131)

At 31 December 458,670 456,516

19. Net premium earned                                 
2022 2021
RO RO

Gross written premiums 21,025,673 17,571,025
Movement in unearned premium reserve (1,201,163) 1,398,149

Gross premium earned 19,824,510 18,969,174

Reinsurance share of ceded premiums (5,205,069) (2,874,865)
Movement in reinsurance share of unearned premium reserve 1,649,437 (301,090)

Reinsurance share of ceded premium earned (3,555,632) (3,175,955)

Net premium earned 16,268,878 15,793,219
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20. Claims
  
The amount in the provision for outstanding claims, and the related reinsurer’s share is as follows: 

2022

Gross 
Reinsurance

share Net
RO RO RO

At 1 January
Outstanding claims 14,165,142 (6,087,444) 8,077,698
IBNR 3,787,029 (46,117) 3,740,912

17,952,171 (6,133,561) 11,818,610
Add: claims provided during the year 6,482,011 487,698 6,969,709 

24,434,182 (5,645,863) 18,788,319
Less: insurance claims paid during the year (9,204,683) 1,160,401 (8,044,282)

At 31 December 15,229,499 (4,485,462) 10,744,037 

Analysis of outstanding clams at 31 December  
Outstanding claims 12,226,105 (4,327,417) 7,898,688
IBNR 3,003,394 (158,045) 2,845,349

15,229,499 (4,485,462) 10,744,037

2021

Gross 
Reinsurance

Share Net
RO RO RO

At 1 January
Outstanding claims 18,026,583 (6,798,697) 11,227,886 
IBNR 4,957,456 (166,669) 4,790,787 

22,984,039 (6,965,366) 16,018,673 
Add: claims provided during the year 5,950,830 65,247 6,016,077 

28,934,869 (6,900,119) 22,034,750 
Less: insurance claims paid during the year (10,982,698) 766,558 (10,216,140)

At 31 December 17,952,171 (6,133,561) 11,818,610 

Analysis of outstanding clams at 31 December  
Outstanding claims 14,165,142 (6,087,444) 8,077,698
IBNR 3,787,029 (46,117) 3,740,912 

17,952,171 (6,133,561) 11,818,610

Claims include claims related to related parties amounting to nil (2021 – RO Nil). 

Majority of the claims are expected to be paid within twelve months of the reporting date. The 
amounts due from reinsurers are contractually due within a maximum period of three months from 
the date of payment of the claims. Outstanding claims payable to related parties are disclosed in note
24. 
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21.    Investment income – (net)
2022   2021
RO   RO

Interest income on bank deposits 1,541,933 1,829,087
Net income on investments (20,937) 24,000
Dividend income 35,044 28,572

1,556,040 1,881,659

22. General and administrative expenses  

2022   2021
RO   RO

Staff costs 3,311,390 3,250,090
Depreciation (Note 11) 280,767 301,395
Central support expense 586,898 385,890
Rent / Depreciation (RoU) 445,394 463,569
Telephone 89,612 75,101
IT expense 713,376 652,201
Travel expenses 15,732 2,797
Other expenses 998,704 1,101,195

6,441,873 6,232,238

23. Income tax 
2022           2021
RO       RO

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income:
Current tax 572,006 721,060
Prior year tax (99,495) (4,083)
Deferred tax (7,511) (42,467)

465,000 674,510

Current liability:
Current year 572,006 721,060
Prior years 155,488 448,848

727,494 1,169,908

Deferred tax asset:
At 1 January 208,243 165,776
Movement for the year 7,511 42,467

At 31 December 215,754 208,243



Al Ahlia Insurance Company SAOG 

50

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2022

23. Income tax (continued) 

The deferred tax asset comprises the following types of temporary differences: 

2022         2021
RO       RO

Taxable timing difference on premises and equipment 
  qualifying for accelerated tax relief 26,548 27,236
Taxable timing differences on right-of-use assets 19,550 23,170
Deductible timing difference on provisions 169,656 157,837

At 31 December 215,754 208,243

The tax rate applicable to the Company is 15% (2021 – 15%). For the purpose of determining the tax 
expense for the year, the accounting profit has been adjusted for tax purposes. Adjustments for tax 
purposes include items relating to both income and expense. After giving effect to these adjustments, 
the average effective tax rate is estimated to be 13.74% (2021 – 14.92%).

Set out below is reconciliation of income tax calculated on accounting profits with income tax expense 
for the year: 

2022         2021
RO       RO

Profit before income tax 3,385,497 4,501,659

Tax calculated at the statutory income tax rate of 15% 507,825 675,249
Tax effect of:
Income / gains not taxable (118,057) (129,858)
Prior year’s tax (99,495) (27,261)
Deferred tax (7,511) (42,467)
Expenses not deductible in taxable profit 182,238 198,847

Income tax expense 465,000 674,510

Status of tax assessments 

Assessments of the Company up to tax year 2018 are complete. Tax assessments of the former Al Ahlia 
Insurance Company SAOC prior to its merger with the Company are complete up to tax year 2010.

The management is of the opinion that any additional taxes assessed for the open tax years, if any, 
would not be material to the Company’s financial position as at 31 December 2022. 

24. Related party transactions 

Related parties comprise the shareholders, directors, key management personnel and business entities 
in which they have the ability to control or exercise significant influence in financial and operating 
decisions.

The Company maintains significant balances with these related parties which arise in the normal 
course of business from commercial transactions and are at mutually agreed terms and conditions. 
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24. Related party transactions (continued)
Balances with related parties included in the statement of financial position are as follows:

31 December 2022

Deposits 
and other

receivables

Insurance 
and 

reinsurance 
receivables

Reinsurance 
payable

Other
payables

RO               RO            RO RO

Major shareholders - - - 951,862
Other related parties 22,736,689 48,918 144,799 669,056

22,736,689 48,918 144,799 1,620,918

31 December 2021

Deposits 
and other

receivables

Insurance 
and 

reinsurance 
receivables

Reinsurance 
payable

Other
payables

RO               RO            RO RO

Major shareholders 8,306,843 - - 8,306,843
Other related parties 3,857 33,696 15,769 53,322

8,310,700 33,696 15,769 8,360,165

Transactions with related parties included in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2022
Reinsurance 

share of 
ceded 

premiums
Commission

income

Reinsurance 
share of 

claims
recovered

Technical
service 

fees and 
(net 

interest 
income)

Deposits 
placed

RO RO RO RO RO

Major shareholders - - - 586,898 -

Other related parties 291,106 64,418 536,744 (353,083) 3,200,000

291,106 64,418 536,744 233,815 3,200,000

For the year ended 31 December 2021
Reinsurance 

share of 
ceded 

premiums
Commission

income

Reinsurance 
share of 

claims 
recovered

Technical
service 

fees
Deposits 

placed
RO RO RO RO RO

Major shareholders - - - 463,569 -

Other related parties 273,969 67,121 556,610 - -

273,969 67,121 556,610 463,569 -
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24. Related party transactions (continued) 

Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of key management during the year was as follows:

For the year ended 31 
December

2022 2021

RO RO

Short-term benefits 512,700 480,871

Employees’ end of service benefits 31,475 27,596

544,175 508,467

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties 
Outstanding balances at year end are unsecured and interest free and settlement occurs in cash. 
There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables or payables. 
For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has not recorded any impairment of 
receivables relating to amounts owed by related parties (2021 – Nil). This assessment is undertaken 
each financial year through examining the financial position of the related party and the market in 
which the related party operates. 

25.   Contingent liabilities 

Contingencies
The Company's bankers have provided financial guarantees to third parties on behalf of the Company 
amounting to RO 78,387 (2021 – RO 52,875).

The Company has provided a bank guarantee to the Capital Market Authority of RO 150,000 (2021 
– RO 150,000) to comply with the requirements of Article 51 of the Insurance Companies Law of 
the Sultanate of Oman (Note 10). 

Legal claims
The Company, in the normal course of business is subject to litigations and lawsuits. The Company, 
based on an independent legal advice, does not believe that the outcome of these court cases will have 
a material impact on the Company’s income or financial condition.

26. Net assets per share

2022 2021
RO RO

Net assets  (RO) 40,734,536 40,314,039
Number of shares at the reporting date 100,000,000 100,000,000
Net assets per share (RO)                                              0.407 0.403

Net assets per share are calculated by dividing the shareholders’ equity at the reporting date by the 
number of shares outstanding. 
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27. Basic and diluted earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year by the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding during the year as follows: 

          2022 2021
RO RO

Profit for the year 2,920,497 3,827,149
Weighted average number of shares 100,000,000 100,000,000
Earnings per share 0.029 0.038

No figure for diluted earnings per share has been presented as the Company has not issued any 
instruments which would have an impact on earnings per share when exercised.

28. Segmental information 

The Company has two reportable segments, as described below. The strategic business units offer 
different products and services and are managed separately because they require different marketing 
strategies. For each of the strategic business units, the CEO reviews internal management reports on 
at least a monthly basis. The following summary describes the operations in each of the Company’s 
reportable segments:

(i) Motor
(ii) Non – motor

Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below. Performance is 
measured based on segment net insurance income, as included in the internal management reports 
that are reviewed by the CEO. Inter-segment pricing is determined on an arm’s length basis.
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28.     Segmental information (continued)

Motor Non - motor Total
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
RO RO RO RO RO RO

Net premium earned 13,241,106 12,232,762 3,027,772 3,560,457 16,268,878 15,793,219
--------------------------- --------------------------- ------------------------ ----------------------- ---------------------- ----------------------------

Net underwriting income 4,420,955 5,695,244 3,737,943  2,987,319 8,158,898 8,682,563   
--------------------------- --------------------------- ------------------------ ----------------------- ---------------------- ----------------------------

General and administrative \   
  expenses (6,441,873) (6,232,237)
Investment income – net 1,556,040 1,881,659
Other income – net 162,011 231,015
Finance cost on lease 
  liabilities (49,579) (61,341)

---------------------- ----------------------------
Profit before tax 3,385,497 4,501,659
Income tax expense (465,000) (674,510)

---------------------- ----------------------------
Profit for the year 2,920,497 3,827,149

---------------------- ----------------------------
Segment assets 1,750,317 1,478,763                     6,124,192 6,078,041 7,874,509 7,556,804

-------------------------- --------------------------      ---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------------
Unallocated assets 67,700,489 68,151,511

---------------------- ---------------------------
Total assets 75,574,998 75,708,315

---------------------- ---------------------------

Segment liabilities
13,396,962 12,371,903 10,985,844 13,326,044  24,382,806 25,697,947
--------------------------- -------------------------- ------------------------ ----------------------- ----------------------- ---------------------------

Unallocated liabilities 10,457,656 9,696,329
----------------------- ---------------------------

Total liabilities 34,840,462 35,394,276  
----------------------- ---------------------------

Assets and liabilities of the Company are commonly used across the primary segments.

29. Risk management 

Governance framework
The primary objective of the Company’s risk and financial management framework is to protect the 
Company’s shareholders from events that hinder the sustainable achievement of financial 
performance objectives, including failing to exploit opportunities. Key management recognises the 
critical importance of having efficient and effective risk management systems in place.
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29. Risk management (continued) 

Reinsurance risk

In common with other insurance companies, in order to minimise financial exposure arising from 
large claims, the Company, in the normal course of business, enters into agreements with other 
parties for reinsurance purposes. Such reinsurance arrangements provide for greater diversification 
of business, allow management to control exposure to potential losses arising from large risks, and 
provide additional capacity for growth. A significant portion of the reinsurance is effected under 
treaty, facultative and excess-of-loss reinsurance contracts.

To minimise its exposure to significant losses from reinsurer insolvencies, the Company evaluates 
the financial condition of its reinsurers and monitors concentrations of credit risk arising from similar 
geographic regions, activities or economic characteristics of reinsurers.

Reinsurance ceded contracts do not relieve the Company from its obligations to policyholders and 
as a result the Company remains liable for the portion of outstanding claims reinsured to the extent 
that the reinsurer fails to meet the obligations under the reinsurance agreements.  The Company’s 
maximum theoretical credit risk exposure at the reporting date in this connection is RO 4,485,462 
(2021 – RO 6,133,561).

The five largest reinsurance premiums account for 70% as of 31 December 2022 (2021: 82%).

The concentration of reinsurance risk at the reporting date by geographic region is as follows:

2022 2021
RO RO

Oman 168,726 595,869
Middle east 133,975 596,976
Others 4,182,761 4,940,716

4,485,462 6,133,561
Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. Floating rate instruments expose the Company to cash 
flow interest risk, whereas fixed interest rate instruments expose the Company to fair value interest 
risk. 

The Company’s bank deposits carry fixed rate of interest and therefore, are not exposed to interest 
rate risk.

Insurance risk

Insurance risk is the risk that actual claims payable to contract holders in respect of insured events 
exceed the carrying amount of insurance liabilities. This could occur because the frequency or 
amounts of claims are more than expected.

Frequency and amounts of claims: 

The frequency and amounts of claims can be affected by several factors. The Company underwrites 
mainly motor, fire and accident and marine risks. These are regarded as short-term insurance 
contracts as claims are normally advised and settled within one year of the insured event taking place. 
This helps to mitigate insurance risk.
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29.    Risk management (continued) 

Insurance risk (continued)

Fire-property:

For property insurance contracts the main risks are fire and business interruption. 

These contracts are underwritten by reference to the replacement value of the properties and contents 
insured. The cost of rebuilding properties and obtaining replacement contents and the time taken to 
restart operations which leads to business interruptions are the main factors that influence the level 
of claims.

Motor: 

For motor contracts the main risks are claims for death and bodily injury and the replacement or 
repair of vehicles. In recent years the Company has only underwritten comprehensive polices for 
drivers over 21 years of age. Substantially all of the motor contracts relate to private individuals. 

The level of court awards for deaths and to injured parties and the replacement costs of motor vehicles 
are the key factors that influence the level of claims.

Marine: 

For marine insurance the main risks are loss or damage to marine craft and accidents resulting in the 
total or partial loss of cargoes.

The underwriting strategy for the marine class of business is to ensure that policies are well 
diversified in terms of vessels and shipping routes covered. 

The insurance risk arising from insurance contracts is not concentrated in any of the countries in 
which the Company operates.

Key assumptions: 

The principal assumption underlying the estimates is the Company’s past claims development 
experience. This includes assumptions in respect of average claim costs, claim handling costs, claim 
inflation factors and claim numbers for each accident year. Additional qualitative judgments are used 
to assess the extent to which past trends may not apply in the future, for example one-off occurrence, 
changes in market factors such as public attitude to claiming, economic conditions, as well as internal 
factors such as portfolio mix, policy conditions and claims handling procedures. Judgment is further 
used to assess the extent to which external factors such as judicial decisions and government 
legislation affect the estimates.

Other key assumptions include variation in interest rates, delays in settlement and changes in foreign 
currency rates.  

Claims development 
The Company maintains strong reserves in respect of its insurance business in order to protect against 
adverse future claims experience and developments. The uncertainties about the amount and timing 
of claim payments are normally resolved within one year.
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29.    Risk management (continued) 

Insurance risk (continued)
The below table sets out the concentration of insurance contract liabilities by type of contract (Refer 
note 20) 

31 December 2022 31 December 2021
Line of Business Gross 

liabilities
RO

Reinsurance 
liabilities

RO

Net 
liabilities

RO

Gross 
liabilities

RO

Reinsurance 
liabilities

RO

Net liabilities
RO

Motor 6,720,389 253,247 6,467,142 6,442,834 321,162 6,121,672
Property 7,704,610 3,992,641 3,711,969 10,284,116 4,675,947 5,608,169
Marine 204,100 137,909 66,191 346,072 186,395 159,677
General Accidents 208,149 2,613 205,536 150,253 3,434 146,819
Engineering 391,251 99,052 292,199 728,896 946,623 (217,727)
Group Life 1,000 - 1,000 - - -

15,229,499 4,485,462 10,744,037 17,952,171 6,133,561 11,818,610

Sensitivity of underwriting profit and losses 

The Company have exposures to risks in each class of business that may develop and that could have 
a material impact upon the Company's financial position. The geographical and insurance risk 
diversity within the Company's portfolio of issued insurance policies makes it impossible to predict 
whether material developments will occur and, if they do occur, the location and timing of such 
occurrences. The Company evaluate the concentration of exposures to individual and cumulative 
insurance risk and establishes its reinsurance policy to reduce such exposures to levels acceptable to 
the Company. 

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

Considering the fact that the Omani Rial is effectively pegged to US Dollar, the Company is not 
exposed to any material currency risk. 

Equity and bond price risk 

The Company is exposed to market risk with respect to its investments. The Company limits equity 
and bond price risk by maintaining a diversified portfolio and by continuous monitoring of the 
market. In addition, the Company monitors actively the key factors that affect stock market movements. 

83.34% (2021 – 98.54%) of the Company's investments at the reporting date are within the Sultanate 
of Oman.  

A 10% increase/decrease in the fair value of quoted investments at fair value through profit or loss 
will result in an increase/decrease in profits of RO 57,001 (2021 – RO 9,474) 

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and 
cause the other party to incur a financial loss. For all classes of financial assets held by the Company, 
other than those relating to reinsurance contracts as described in reinsurance risk above, the 
maximum credit risk exposure to the Company is the carrying value as disclosed in the statement of 
financial position.
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29.    Risk management (continued) 

Credit risk (continued) 

The following policies and procedures are in place to mitigate the Company’s exposure to credit risk:

The Company only enters into insurance and reinsurance contracts with recognised, credit worthy 
third parties. 

The Company seeks to limit its credit risk with respect to customers by setting credit limits for 
individual customers and monitoring outstanding receivables. Premium and insurance balances 
receivable comprise a large number of customers mainly within Sultanate of Oman. 

The Company’s bank balances and bank deposits are maintained with a range of international and 
local banks in accordance with limits, based on their credit standing, set by the board of directors.  
Credit risk is limited to the carrying values of financial assets in the statement of financial 
position. 

The following tables explain the credit position of the Company.

31 December 2022
Neither past 

due nor 
impaired

Past due 
but not 

impaired Impaired Total
RO RO RO RO

Insurance and reinsurance receivables 2,743,992 2,316,312 1,425,073 6,485,377
Reinsurance share of outstanding 
  claims and IBNR reserve

4,485,462 - - 4,485,462

Investments in local bonds                                                                                                   2,318,421 - - 2,318,421
Bank balances 2,740,609 - - 2,740,609
Bank deposits 34,728,097 - - 34,728,097
Other receivables 6,139,901 - - 6,139,901

Total 53,156,482 2,316,312 1,425,073 56,897,867

31 December 2021
Neither past 

due nor 
impaired

Past due 
but not 

impaired Impaired Total
RO RO RO RO

Insurance and reinsurance receivables 2,739,489 2,286,208 1,363,530 6,389,227
Reinsurance share of outstanding 
  claims and IBNR reserve

6,133,561 - - 6,133,561

Investments in local bonds                                                                                                   2,407,429 - - 2,407,429
Bank balances 1,640,825 - - 1,640,825
Bank deposits 36,528,097 - - 36,528,097
Other receivables 6,073,414 - - 6,073,414

Total 55,522,815 2,286,208 1,363,530 59,172,553

The Company has made full provision towards its impaired receivable balances.

The Company seeks to limit credit risk by investing in financial assets with only reputed and 
creditworthy financial institutions in Oman. The geographical concentration of credit risk for bank 
balances and bank deposits is within Oman.
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29.    Risk management (continued) 

  Credit risk (continued)

The following table provides an age analysis of receivables arising from insurance and reinsurance 
contracts past due but not impaired: 

Past due but not impaired

Less than 
3 months 

3 to 6 
months

6 to 9 
months

9 to 12 
months

> 12 
months Total

Past due 
and 

impaired
RO RO RO RO RO RO RO

2022 906,829 602,058 650,671 - 156,754 2,316,312 1,425,073

2021 929,366 470,363 774,170 112,309 - 2,286,208 1,363,530

The maximum credit exposure to credit risk for insurance and reinsurance receivables at the reporting 
date by geographic region is as follows: 

2022 2021
RO RO

Oman 6,308,457 6,335,731
Middle east 142,301 40,509
Others 34,619 12,987

6,485,377 6,389,227

The maximum credit exposure to credit risk for insurance and reinsurance receivables at the reporting 
date by classification of counterparties is as follows:

2022 2021
RO RO

Brokers and agents 4,080,748 4,767,020
Individuals and corporate clients 1,573,381 1,415,859
Insurance and reinsurance companies 831,248 206,348

6,485,377 6,389,227

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial liabilities 
when they fall due. Liquidity requirements are monitored on monthly basis and management ensures 
that sufficient liquid funds are available to meet any commitments as they arise. The table below 
summaries the maturity of assets and liabilities of the Company based on remaining undiscounted 
contractual obligations. As the Company does not have any interest bearing liabilities, the totals in 
the table match the statement of financial position. 
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30. Capital management 

Capital management framework

Regulatory framework

Regulators are primarily interested in protecting the rights of the policyholder and monitor them 
closely to ensure that the Company is satisfactorily managing affairs for their benefit. At the same 
time, the regulators are also interested in ensuring that the Company maintains an appropriate 
solvency position to meet unforeseen liabilities arising from economic shocks or natural disasters.

The operations of the Company are also subject to regulatory requirements within the jurisdictions 
when it operates. Such regulations not only prescribe approval and monitoring of activities, but also 
impose certain restrictive provisions (e.g. solvency requirements) to minimise the risk of default and 
insolvency on the part of the insurance companies to meet unforeseen liabilities as they arise.

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in 
economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the 
dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. 

31. Fair values of financial instruments

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability settled between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. 

Management believes that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities 
recognised at amortised cost in the financial statements approximate their fair values. 

Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to 
initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair 
value is observable.

Level 1 - fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included 
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly 
(i.e. derived from prices). 

Level 3 - fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs 
for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 
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31. Fair values of financial instruments (continued)

31 December 2022
Level 1 Level 3 Total

RO RO RO
Financial assets at FVTPL 76,812 71,429 148,241

- Local securities 493,206 - 493,206
- Foreign securities

31 December 2021
Level 1 Level 3 Total

RO RO RO
Financial assets at FVTPL

- Local securities 57,073 71,429 128,502
- Foreign securities 37,668 - 37,668

The Company has investments amounting to RO 2.32 million as at reporting date (31 December 
2021 – RO 2.41 million) which are classified as ‘held to maturity’ investments and carried at the 
amortised cost (note 9.3). The carrying value of the held-to-maturity investments is equal to the fair 
value.  

Available for sale investments amounting to RO 0.1 million at reporting date (31 December 2021 – 
RO 0.1 million) represents the Company’s investment in Orange Card Company SAOC, which is 
recorded at cost. The shares of Orange Card Company SAOC are not traded and management 
considers the carrying value of the investment to approximate its fair value (note 9.2).

In accordance with the Company’s policy, the land and buildings were re-valued at their fair value 
on 31 December 2022 for existing use by an accredited independent valuer who is an industry 
specialist in valuing these types of properties. The fair market value as at 31 December 2022 
amounted to RO 0.2 million. The valuation is based on acceptable methods of valuation such as sales 
comparison, income capitalization and market comparable methods. As the significant valuation 
inputs used are based on unobservable market data these are classified under level 3 fair value 
hierarchy. In estimating the fair value of the land and buildings, the highest and best use of the 
properties is their current use.  

There were no transfers between level 1, 2 and 3 during the period. 

32. Dividend

For the year 2022 the Board of Directors have proposed a cash dividend of 29 % of the share capital 
i.e. 29 baizas per share amounting to RO 2,900,000 (2021 - cash dividend of 25% of the share capital 
i.e., 25 baizas per share amounting to RO 2,500,000). 

33. Leases

The Company has lease contracts mainly towards rental of premises on lease, printers and motor 
vehicles used in its operations. It has been assumed that the lease term for premises on lease, printers 
and motor vehicles is generally five years. Generally, the Company is restricted from assigning and 
subleasing the leased assets. 

The Company has not applied the ‘short-term lease’ and ‘lease of low-value assets’ recognition 
exemptions for the above leases.
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33. Leases (continued)

Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during 
the year:

Office 
premises Printers

Motor 
vehicles Total

RO RO RO RO
2022
At 1 January 769,256 8,418 23,070 800,744
Additions 519,597 - - 519,597
Depreciation expenses (426,476) (8418) (10,500) (445,394)
At 31 December 862,377 - 12,570 874,947

2021
At 1 January 1,123,658 16,836 46,140 1,186,634
Additions (354,402) (8,418) (23,070) (385,890)
Depreciation expenses
At 31 December 769,256 8,418 23,070 800,744

Approximately 99% (2021 – 96%) of the total right-of-use assets pertain to premises taken on lease.

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the year: 

2022   2021
RO   RO

As at 1 January 901,923 1,122,332
Additions 519,597 -
Finance cost on lease liabilities 49,579 61,341
Payments (492,054) (281,750)

--------------------------- ---------------------------
At 31 December 979,045 901,923

---------------------------- ---------------------------

The following are the amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income:

2022   2021
RO   RO

Depreciation expense of right of use assets 445,394 385,890
Finance cost on lease liabilities 49,579 61,341

---------------------------- --------------------------
494,973 447,231

---------------------------- ---------------------------

Set out below is the undiscounted future lease payments in each of the following periods are as follows:

2022   2021
RO   RO

Less than one year 473,306 441,507
Between one and five years 505,739 471,987

---------------------------- --------------------------
979,045 913,494
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